FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/18/2021 9:25 AM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100390-1

No. 80662-9

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

ASHA SINGH, as personal representative of the estate of NARENDRA P. SINGH,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, a governmental entity; UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON, a Washington State entity; and JOHN DOES 1-5,

Respondents.

### ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Rory D. Cosgrove CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 622-8020

Attorney for Asha Singh

### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Asha Singh, as the personal representative of the estate of her late husband, Dr. Narendra Singh, asks this Court to accept review of the parts of the Court of Appeals' decision designated below; reverse the Court of Appeals; and remand for a trial. Asha will refer to herself as *Singh* and to her late husband as *Dr. Singh*.

#### **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The Court of Appeals issued its decision terminating review on August 16, 2021, and denied reconsideration on October 20, 2021. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is attached as Appendix B.

Singh seeks review of the Court of Appeals' decision declining to reinstate her claims for breach of contract, tortious interference, and failure to pay teaching wages, all of which were dismissed on summary judgment.

### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

This petition involves four issues of substantial public

interest that this Court should determine under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. Creation of a unilateral contract governing intellectual property created by faculty employed by a public-research institution. For nearly a century, employees' rights in their inventions have sprung from the employment contract. In many employment contexts, an employee who develops intellectual property does not have a formal employment contract.

This Court reaffirmed in Storti v. University of Washington, 181 Wn.2d 28, 330 P.3d 159 (2014), the longstanding rule that employment policies may form a unilateral contract between a university and its faculty under traditional contract principles. For most, if not all, faculty employed by the University of Washington, any intellectual property developed by their research is principally governed by a single, self-entitled policy document. That document grants rights and protectable interests to faculty to manage, to control, to preserve, and to destroy their research data. But according to the University and the Court of Appeals, because that policy document does not create contractual rights, the University has unfettered discretion to do as it pleases with a faculty's research data and intellectual property-including, as it did here, intentionally destroying a core faculty member's novel cell line that promised to treat cancer and to further scientific research.

Should this Court grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and hold that—consistent with its prior decisions like *Storti* and its progeny—provisions in an employment-policy document may form a unilateral contract between the University and its faculty?

2. The University's intentional destruction of a core faculty member's cancer research breached the unilateral contract governing the faculty's rights to intellectual property. Public-research institutions exist to preserve, to increase, and to transmit knowledge for the general benefit. This is precisely why most major scientific breakthroughs in cancer and vaccine research occur at these institutions.

The University's employment policies granted core research faculty like Dr. Singh the rights to maintain, to manage, to control, and to preserve their research data and intellectual property. Those policies also granted faculty the ultimate right to destroy such data and property.

While employed by the University, Dr. Singh developed a novel cell line valuable for cancer research. He published scholarship on this cell line for the benefit of the scientific community. Yet the University unilaterally destroyed this cell line without Dr. Singh's knowledge or approval.

Should this Court grant review to determine this issue of substantial public interest whether the University may destroy a core faculty member's research data in violation of the unilateral contract granting the faculty rights to manage, to control, to preserve, and ultimately to destroy their own research data?

3. The University's termination of a licensing agreement involving Dr. Singh's research data tortiously interfered with his valid business expectancy of royalties. Research-faculty compensation is supported principally by grant funding and licensing revenue generated by the faculty's research data and intellectual property.

Dr. Singh agreed to assist the University to license the cell line he developed to third parties in exchange for a portion of the licensing revenue. The University licensed that cell line to a third party but refused to perform that agreement and later unilaterally terminated it, despite Dr. Singh's financial interest in the agreement.

Should this Court grant review to determine whether the University may unilaterally terminate a contract in which one of its core faculty members holds a financial interest?

4. A faculty member's right to be paid wages for compensable teaching activities and classroom instruction. Persons employed in Washington have the right to be paid wages for their work. Core research faculty principally conduct research in laboratories but may also teach classes, in which case they are entitled to be paid for any teaching activities.

Dr. Singh both conducted research and taught classes in the University's Bioengineering Department. The University failed to pay him all his teaching wages for work performed in 2015, shortly before he took an extended medical leave.

There are perhaps hundreds, if not thousands, of nontenured faculty employed at the University of Washington who both conduct research and perform classroom instruction. These faculty are integral to furthering the University's academic mission and to leading the next generation of scholars.

Should this Court grant review to determine whether core research faculty at the University have the same rights to be paid wages for their teaching activities as do tenured faculty—another issue of substantial public interest?

# IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. A trailblazer in the field of DNA analysis, Dr. Singh pioneered a technique over three decades ago to analyze DNA damage in cells.

After completing his graduate studies in India at its top

medical school, Dr. Singh immigrated to the United States to

begin a post-doctoral fellowship on DNA damage. CP 1299. That fellowship allowed Dr. Singh to pursue his childhood dream of understanding the aging process and its causes.<sup>1</sup>

Five years later, while working at the National Institute of Health, Dr. Singh pioneered a technique called the comet assay to analyze DNA damage at the cellular level. CP 1300. That technique has since become the gold standard for human biomonitoring. CP 1300.

Dr. Singh's groundbreaking research, which has led to many scientific breakthroughs in other fields, sought to find answers to the aging process, including cancer. CP 1299–1302. His seminal paper on DNA damage has been cited over 12,000

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Narendra P. Singh, *The comet assay: Reflections on its development, evolution and applications*, 767 MUTATION RESEARCH 23, 23–24 (2016) (attached as Appendix C).

times.<sup>2</sup> To put that into context, the Watson and Crick paper that first established DNA structure (*i.e.*, the double helix) has been cited about 16,000 times.<sup>3</sup> This alone speaks to the innovative and influential nature of Dr. Singh's work and its lasting impact on the scientific community.

B. Dr. Singh became a member of the core research faculty in the University of Washington's Bioengineering Department over two decades ago, where he conducted cutting-edge research, taught classes, and mentored students.

Dr. Singh joined the core research faculty of the

University's Bioengineering Department in 1998. CP 725. He

was one of about 50 core faculty in the Department. CP 724.

Research faculty primarily conducted research but were also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Narendra P. Singh et al., A simple technique for quantitation of low levels of DNA damage in individual cells, 175 EXPERIMENTAL CELL RESEARCH 184 (1988). The amicus memorandum of Dr. Robert H. Heflich, expected to be filed in support of this petition, provides additional context to Dr. Singh's research and achievements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See J.D. Watson & F.H.C. Crick, A Structure for Deoxyribose Nucleic Acid, 171 NATURE 737 (1953).

allowed to teach core bioengineering classes, which Dr. Singh regularly did during his career. CP 739, 1300.

C. Dr. Singh's intellectual property, including the cell lines he developed, were governed by several university policies that granted him contractual rights and protectable interests.

Intellectual property created by faculty at public-research institutions has burgeoned in the last forty years. *See* Daniel R. Cahoy, *Toward a Fair Social Use Framework for College and University Intellectual Property*, 41 J.C. & U.L. 485, 489 (2015). Research in the bioengineering and biotechnology spaces has particularly fueled the development of intellectual property. For instance, Dr. Singh focused his research on the intersection of DNA, cancer, and the aging process. CP 1299–1303. That research then transformed itself into research data, such as cell lines—the fruits of Dr. Singh's laboratory efforts. CP 902–08, 917.

To manage the development of this property, the University drafted several policies and memoranda to govern the rights to and interests in such property. Three documents principally governed the rights in that property vis-à-vis the faculty and the University: the Patent, Invention, and Copyright (PIC) policy; Administrative Policy Statement (APS) 59.4; and Grants Information Memorandum (GIM) 37. CP 844, 850–63, 877–98, 902–08.

The PIC and APS 59.4 policies required the faculty to share with the University all revenue from licensed inventions. CP 844, 852, 883.

GIM 37 established the "rights in research data" generated by faculty employed at the University. CP 844, 902. These rights included ownership, stewardship, and preservation. CP 903–04. Although the University generally owned all research data, principal investigators chiefly controlled access to their research data, and research data could only be destroyed by the principal investigator. CP 903–05. Because Dr. Singh was University faculty; the cell lines he developed at the University were "research data"; and he was the "principal investigator" for the cell lines, GIM 37 granted rights and protectable interests in research data to Dr. Singh. CP 903, 906.

D. Shortly before he was forced to take an extended medical leave, Dr. Singh developed a novel cell line that promised to treat cancer. The University licensed this cell line to a company for scientific and financial benefits.

During his employment at the University, Dr. Singh wrote papers and conducted research on numerous DNA-related topics, including age-related changes in DNA damage and repair, the role of environmental factors in DNA damage, and fetal origins of adult disease. CP 1301–02. He eventually developed a novel cell line (called the ARTN-103) that showed characteristics of cancer stem cells, including resistance to chemotherapy and radiation. CP 917, 1278, 1592. This scientific breakthrough promised to support "research on cancer, in particular studies on cancer therapies, early disease identification, [and] drug targeting." CP 917.

In January 2016, Dr. Singh collapsed, became debilitated, and required an extended medical leave. CP 1403–05. He, along with his wife Asha, returned to India to be near family while he attempted to recover. CP 1405.

During his medical leave, Dr. Singh was contacted by a company wanting to license the ARTN cell line. CP 1281–82. The University, after months of negotiations, ultimately contracted with Applied Biological Materials (ABM) to license the ARTN cell line Dr. Singh had developed. CP 1592–97.

E. During Dr. Singh's medical leave, the University covertly began decommissioning his lab, despite requests from fellow faculty to help maintain Dr. Singh's laboratory and ongoing research. Later, after Dr. Singh's death, the University terminated the ABM licensing agreement and destroyed the licensed novel cell line that he had developed.

Knowing how much Dr. Singh's research meant to the scientific community, his family—most of whom are physicians themselves—contacted the University during Dr. Singh's medical leave to obtain assurances that the University would maintain and preserve Dr. Singh's laboratory, including his ongoing research and cell lines. CP 1461–62. One of Dr. Singh's colleagues in the Bioengineering Department,

Dr. Gerald Pollack, and others agreed to help maintain the laboratory and the ongoing research. CP 1737, 2315, 2326.

The University rebuffed efforts from Dr. Singh, his fellow faculty, and former lab assistants to maintain and to preserve Dr. Singh's laboratory and research data. CP 605–14, 693–94, 782–83, 1195–98, 1235, 1406, 1461–62, 1737. It shut out Dr. Singh from maintaining the integrity of his own laboratory and research data while he was on medical leave. *Id*. And it secretly began decommissioning his laboratory. CP 1406, 1461– 62.

Dr. Singh passed away in India in late 2016. Apparently because of Dr. Singh's death, the University refused to perform the ABM contract, unilaterally terminated it, and destroyed all of Dr. Singh's research data, including the ARTN cell line. CP 1583. F. Singh sued the University. Despite the University's destruction of Dr. Singh's cell lines, its failure to perform the licensing agreement, and its failure to pay Dr. Singh all his wages, the trial court dismissed all of Singh's claims on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of all but one of those claims.

Singh, on behalf of her late husband's estate, sued the University for breach of contract, tortious interference, conversion, disability discrimination, and unpaid wages. Her first three claims were principally based on the University's destruction of Dr. Singh's ARTN cell line.

The trial court dismissed all of Singh's claims on summary judgment. CP 1641. The Court of Appeals, Division One, affirmed the dismissal of all but the disability-discrimination claim.

### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Review is warranted to correct the conflicts created by Division One's decision. Provisions in employment policies governing rights in research data generated at a public-research institution may form a unilateral contract between faculty and a university.

Contracts typically come in two forms: bilateral and unilateral. *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 35. A unilateral contract is formed when one party makes a promise, and the second party accepts that promise through performance of their end of the bargain. *Id.* at 36. Review is warranted because Division One's decision creates conflicts in the law regarding unilateral contracts in employment policies that give contractual rights to employees in their intellectual property. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

This Court has long recognized that employment policies may form a unilateral contract between employers and employees. *See, e.g., Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 228–29, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984) (holding that provisions in an employee policy manual may create contractual obligations); *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36–38 (reaffirming *Thompson* and holding that University of Washington faculty established an enforceable contract based on the University's promise in an executive order to extend raises for meritorious performance).

These seminal cases have been cited hundreds of times by courts applying these fundamental principles of employment law in Washington. *See, e.g., Duncan v. Alaska USA Fed. Credit Union, Inc.*, 148 Wn. App. 52, 62, 199 P.3d 991 (2008); *Carlson v. Lake Chelan Cmty. Hosp.*, 116 Wn. App. 718, 733, 75 P.3d 533 (2003). These principles apply naturally in the context of a university employee's contractual right to benefit from inventions and novel research. *See United States v. Dublier Condenser Corp.*, 289 U.S. 178, 187, 53 S. Ct. 554, 77 L. Ed. 1114 (1933) ("The respective rights and obligations of employee and employee, touching an invention conceived by the latter, spring from the contract of employment.").

But most faculty, including Dr. Singh, do not have a formal employment contract with the University that governed

rights in the research data they generated. Research faculty cannot acquire tenure and all the concomitant tenure rights and protections. Like Dr. Singh, these faculty's employment relationship with the University instead consisted solely of various policy documents. So Division One's misapplication of the unilateral-contract law here, which conflicts with the cases cited above, warrants correction.

GIM 37 is a self-entitled policy document governing research data. CP 902–08. Dr. Singh was a faculty. The ARTN cell line he developed while employed by the University was "research data." CP 903, 906. And he was the "principal investigator" for that cell line. CP 903. GIM 37 thus applied to Dr. Singh and his research data.

GIM 37 was intended to establish the "rights in research data" generated by faculty at the University. CP 902. These rights included ownership, stewardship, and preservation. CP 903–04. The University generally owned all research data; the principal investigator generally controlled access to their research data; and the research data could be destroyed only by the principal investigator. CP 903–05.

Contrary to Division One's decision, the University's labeling GIM 37 as a policy or guidance document does not automatically make it so. A unilateral contract may be created if the three traditional contract requisites of offer, acceptance, and consideration are satisfied. *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36.

GIM 37 proclaimed that principal investigators like Dr. Singh "shall" determine who has access to research data; are "responsible" for the collection, management, and retention of research data; and are ultimately "responsible" for the destruction of research data. CP 903–05. This language shows the University's intent to be bound by its promise of granting these rights to the faculty. *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 36.

The University's offer in GIM 37 was accepted by Dr. Singh. Up until his medical leave, Dr. Singh was collecting, managing, generating, and retaining research data in his laboratory. CP 903.

Consideration supported the University's unilateral contract in GIM 37 with Dr. Singh. Consideration may be established where employees continue in employment when they otherwise would not be required to do so, thus incurring a legal detriment. *Storti*, 181 Wn.2d at 37–38. Dr. Singh—like so many other faculty at the University—relied on the University's promises in GIM 37 by continuing to generate research data and by collecting, managing, generating, and retaining such data for the benefit of the University and of the greater scientific community.

At the very least, a jury could find the existence of a unilateral contract or specific promises based on the evidence Singh presented, and questions of whether employer policies and promises create contractual rights are generally fact questions that must be decided by a jury. *E.g., Thompson*, 102 Wn.2d at 233 (reversing summary judgment in employer's favor due to

"material questions of fact" over employer promises); *Carlson*, 116 Wn. App. at 730 (accord); *see also Fenn v. Yale Univ.*, 283 F. Supp. 2d 615, 628–29 (D. Conn. 2003) (observing that university policies touching on intellectual property "have long been recognized as a valid and enforceable part of the contract of employment"). Division One overlooked the nature of these important factual and legal disputes, creating further conflicts in the law. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Absent formal employment agreements, faculty conducting research at any public-research institution are bound by the policies governing their employment relationship and intellectual property. But when these institutions disavow their obligations in those policies and point to the lack of a formal contract, the faculty are left with nothing to protect their interests in their scientific research, some of which has been created over decades. This Court should grant review and reverse because GIM 37 created a unilateral contract between the faculty and the University concerning rights and interests in research data. B. A public-research institution's intentional destruction of a core research faculty's contractually protected research data is an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review.

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