FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/19/2022 4:07 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 100390-1

No. 80662-9

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION ONE

ASHA SINGH, personally and as Personal Representative of the Estate of NARENDRA P. SINGH,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, a governmental entity; UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON, a Washington State entity, and JOHN DOES 1-5,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

RESPONDENT UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

pay Dr. Singh royalties on the licensing agreement with ABM. CP 2416-29 (Original Complaint ¶¶ 3.8, 5.2-5.4, "Defendant breached the terms of the Agreement with Dr. Singh when it failed to pay Dr. Singh his royalty payments.") (emphasis added), 236-49 (First Amended Complaint, ¶¶ 3.8, 5.2-5.4), 1207-09 (Plaintiff's response to interrogatory no. 9); CP 1207-09, 1227-28 (interrogatories 23-24); see also CP 1373. Lacking any factual support for this theory, Petitioner concocted a completely new argument for the first time in response to the University's summary judgment motion—that the University breached contractual obligations to Dr. Singh by not properly "administering" the ABM license agreement. CP 1421-24.

On appeal, Petitioner pivoted again, largely abandoned these theories, and improperly argued for the first time that the University breached a contract with Dr. Singh by allegedly destroying "Dr. Singh's Work," without identifying that "work." Br. of Appellant, p.11. Without success at the Court of Appeals, Petitioner *now* asks this Court to accept review to determine

15

whether the University breached a unilateral contract by destroying the RTN cell line - a cell line she has *never* before alleged the University destroyed. Pet. for Review, pp. 19-23.

The Court should not need to consider the theories Petitioner advanced for the first time at the Court of Appeals or in her Petitioner for Review. *Kirby v. City of Tacoma*, 124 Wn. App. 454, 469-72, 98 P.3d 827 (2004); *Molloy v. City of Bellevue*, 71 Wn. App. 382, 385-86, 859 P.2d 613 (1993); *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc.*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002); *State v. King*, 167 Wn.2d 324, 329, 219 P.3d 642, 645 (2009); RAP 2.5(a). Regardless, the Court of Appeals appropriately rejected Petitioner's claim.

2. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that University Guidance Memoranda Did Not Create a Binding, Unilateral Contract.

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioner's shifting breach of contract claim. Petitioner initially claimed on appeal that the University violated Grants Information Memorandum ("GIM") 37, by allegedly destroying "Dr. Singh's work."⁵ The Court of Appeals disagreed noting that GIM 37 "is a guidance document," which, in any event, the University followed. Unpublished Opinion, pp. 7-9. This decision does not create "a conflict in the law," as Petitioner claims, because it is supported by case law and the record.

GIM 37 (CP 902-08) announces only broad and general guiding principles; it provides "principles regarding Research Data" and must be read "in conjunction with applicable laws, contract terms, and University policies." CP 902.⁶ Broad principles such as those set forth in GIM 37 are insufficient to create a unilateral contract. *See Quedado v. Boeing Co.*, 168 Wn.

⁵ Petitioner also argued that the University breached a contract by failing to pay Dr. Singh royalties, which the Court of Appeals rejected. Petitioner has abandoned that argument in her Petition for Review.

⁶ Petitioner has also abandoned her arguments that University policies other than GIM 37 created a unilateral contract such as the PIC Policy and the Record of Innovation and Assignment form signed by Dr. Singh's daughter, Himani. Accordingly, the University does not address these arguments here.

App. 363, 367, 276 P.3d 365 (2012) ("general statements of company policy" do not create an implied contract).

Petitioner's reliance on cases where courts have recognized unilateral contracts is misplaced as they concern policies that promise "specific treatment in specific situations." Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co., 102 Wn.2d 219, 685 P.2d 1081 (1994) (employer's "promise of specific treatment in specific situations" in employment policies can alter at-will employment relationship and create binding contract); see also Storti v. University of Washington, 181 Wn.2d 28, 330 P.3d 159 (2014) (finding contract created where University explicitly promised faculty raises and faculty relied upon that promise in performing work). But here, GIM 37 does not make any specific promise about how it will handle research data where, as here, faculty become incapacitated and subsequently die. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that GIM 37 is "a guidance document." Unpublished Opinion, pp.7-9.

3. The University Acted in Conformity with GIM 37 and University Policy

Even if GIM 37 created a unilateral contract, the Court of Appeals did not err in concluding that the University complied with it, including key provisions which Petitioner selectively ignores.

First, GIM 37 affirms that generally all "Research Data" is owned by the University. CP 903. Second, while the Principal Investigator ("PI") "generally" determines who has access to Research Data, GIM 37 provides that, "where necessary to assure needed and appropriate access, the University has the option to take custody of any or all Research data." CP 904 (emphasis added).

Third, GIM 37 provides that, "in the event the PI is not available to address questions regarding Research Data, then the matter may be referred to the appropriate University official, such as the chair or the PI's department and/or unit administering the research, the dean, and the Vice Provost for Research, in that order." CP 904. The record makes clear that the University acted in conformity with GIM 37. After Dr. Singh's incapacitation in January 2016 and until his death in December, he was "not available to address questions" regarding his research. Furthermore, given his incapacitation, the University could take custody of all research data, which it owned. CP 904. It was therefore entirely appropriate under GIM 37 for the Department to manage issues concerning the research data, including who had access to the RTN cell line.

The University also acted in accordance with its contract management rights under the Record of Innovation and Assignment form, signed by Himani, purportedly on behalf of Dr. Singh. CP 916-921. That document, in addition to expressly assigning the RTN cell line to the University, made clear that: (1) Dr. Singh agreed to personally "assist" CoMotion in the commercialization of the RTN cell line and (2) the University, through CoMotion, would "manage all commercialization efforts," including "license negotiations" and "contract

20

management" concerning the RTN cell line assigned to the University. CP 920. Thus, the University had the unfettered discretion to "manage" the licensing of the RTN cell line and the ABM license agreement. This necessarily included the right to terminate the agreement when Dr. Singh was unavailable to "assist."

In short, the University acted in accordance with its own guidance memoranda and pursuant to the express management authority Dr. Singh expressly delegated to it.

4. Petitioner's New Theory that the University Improperly "Destroyed" the RTN Cell Line Is Improper and Unsupported by the Evidence.

Petitioner advances another new argument in her Petition for Review to support the current iteration of her ever-evolving contract claim. Petitioner now argues for the first time that the University "destroyed" the RTN cell line. Petitioner *never* argued at the trial court or the Court of Appeals that the University destroyed the RTN cell line, which was generated with University funds and which it irrefutably owned. CP 850-63, 916-21, 982-86, 1231-33.

As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, Petitioner failed to demonstrate that the University "destroyed" any of Dr. Singh's work or property. Unpublished Decision, p.7. Petitioner cannot salvage her claim with unsupported assertions like "Singh identified that the University improperly destroyed her late husband's licensed ARTN cell line." Pet. for Rev. at 22 (citing nothing). There is simply nothing in the record to demonstrate that the cell line was in Dr. Singh's laboratory when he fell ill, that Dr. Singh owned the cell line, or that the University destroyed it.

What the record makes clear is that, upon Dr. Singh's illness, the Department locked up the laboratory space for safety purposes. CP 782-83. Although there did not appear to be any active research in the laboratory, Department personnel ensured frozen cells remained frozen through regular delivery of liquid nitrogen for roughly 1.5 years. *Id.* After learning of Dr. Singh's

death, the University then returned to the Singh family all of Dr. Singh's personal effects and property—more than 40 boxes. CP 839-41. And, in accordance with University health and safety policy, Department personnel then discarded the chemicals and hazardous materials remaining in Dr. Singh's former laboratory space. CP 784-85. Petitioner has failed to present any evidence that the University destroyed the RTN cell line, as she now claims for the first time.

D. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded that the University Did Not Tortiously Interfere

The trial court and the Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioner's untenable tortious interference claim. Petitioner claims that the University's "own actions" prevented it from performing the ABM licensing agreement, interfering with Dr. Singh's business expectancy through "an improper purpose or means." Pet. for Review, pp. 24-25. The trial court and Court of Appeals properly rejected this very argument.

As described above, Dr. Singh's total incapacitation and subsequent death prevented the University from fulfilling its obligations under the agreement with ABM. CP 1582-83. CoMotion understood that Dr. Singh was the only person with the unique personal knowledge and experience to locate and ship the RTN cell line with the appropriate culturing instructions. CP 845-46, 1582-83. CoMotion emailed Dr. Singh four separate times asking him to ship the materials. CP 1582-83, 1599-1601. Neither he nor anyone from his family responded. CP 1582-83, 1505. When CoMotion learned of Dr. Singh's death, ABM and the University jointly agreed to terminate the licensing agreement. CP 846, 1264-65, 1583. ABM had the contractual right to terminate the agreement at any time for any reason with only 30 days advance notice (CP 1594, ¶8.1), and the University had the unfettered right to "contract management." CP 920.

Petitioner cites no evidence that the *joint* decision to terminate the ABM agreement due to Dr. Singh's death was made for an improper purpose or through improper means as is

24

required to prevail on a tortious interference claim.⁷ "Exercising in good faith one's legal interests is not improper interference." *Leingang v. Pierce County Med. Bureau, Inc.*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 157, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). This joint decision was reasonable under the circumstances and termination was expressly permitted by the license agreement itself. CP 1594.

Furthermore, Petitioner cannot premise her tortious interference claim on the ABM-University agreement. First, "[a] party cannot tortiously interfere with its own contract." *Reninger v. Dep't of Corrections*, 134 Wn.2d 437, 448, 951 P.2d 782 (1998); *see also Houser v. City of Redmond*, 91 Wn.2d 36, 39, 586 P.2d 482 (1978).

Second, the ABM-University agreement expressly precluded derivative claims by third parties like Dr. Singh. CP

⁷ CP 2322 cannot be considered on appeal because it was not part of the summary judgment record but submitted in response to a post summary judgment motion for attorneys' fees. RAP 9.12. Had that record been properly brought before the trial court, the University would have presented evidence refuting Petitioner's characterization of it.

1592-97. That agreement provides: "No Third Party Beneficiaries" and defines "third party" as "any individual or entity other than the University and Licensee [ABM]." CP 1592, 1596. Dr. Singh was unquestionably a "third party" under the ABM agreement. Hence, his Estate cannot bring a claim thereunder.

Finally, as the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly found, Petitioner presented no *admissible* evidence on summary judgment that any other faculty member or person was available or qualified to identify and properly ship the RTN cell material to ABM with the unique culturing instructions. Unpublished Opinion, p.8. Petitioner claims that Dr. Pollack and an unidentified former lab assistant offered to carry on Dr. Singh's research. Pet. for Review, p.26. But Petitioner improperly relies on inadmissible hearsay and other records which were indisputably not before the trial court on its September 3, 2019 summary judgment order. *Id.* at p.26., *citing* CP 1737 (inadmissible hearsay statement by Pollack to Arun Singh),⁸ CP 2315-16 and 2326 (records submitted to the trial court on October 8, 2019 in response to unrelated motion for attorneys' fees not challenged on appeal). This Court can only consider those admissible records which were before the trial court on summary judgment. RAP 9.12.

In any event, this untimely and inadmissible "evidence" does not demonstrate that any particular person was available *and qualified*⁹ to identify and ship to ABM the cellular material with the appropriate culturing instructions.

The trial court and Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioner's tortious interference claim, and there is no basis to grant review of the same.

⁸ Petitioner has never challenged the trial court's finding that Petitioner's summary judgment materials were rife with inadmissible hearsay and speculation (VRP at 16-17).

⁹ There is no evidence that the Singh family (as purportedly proposed by Dr. Pollack at CP 2315-16) or an unidentified former University employee could carry on Dr. Singh's research or knew how to culture the RTN cell line.

E. The Court of Appeals Properly Rejected Petitioner's "Teaching Wage" Claim.

Petitioner claims that the trial court and Court of Appeals erred in rejecting her claim that the University failed to pay Dr. Singh for "teaching wages." Petitioner is incorrect, and this Court should not grant review.

As a threshold matter, the Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioner's "teaching wage" claim was not properly before the Court because it was not raised in the Complaint. Petitioner failed to even address this fundamental issue in the Petition for Review.

Petitioner's original and amended complaints asserted wage claims premised upon the (false) allegation that the University failed to pay Dr. Singh *license agreement royalties* – a claim which fails for the reasons set forth above. CP 243-44 ("Defendants have violated [wage statutes] by failing to make the payments set out in the paragraphs above"), 2425-26 (¶¶7.2, 8.2). Verified interrogatory responses confirmed this was Petitioner's only wage theory. CP 1207-09, 1227-28 (interrogatories 23-24).

Accordingly, the University was not on notice that Plaintiffs claimed the University failed to pay Dr. Singh wages *for teaching activities* and Plaintiffs improperly raised the theory for the first time in response to summary judgment. *Pac. Nw. Shooing Park Ass'n v. City of Sequim*, 158 Wn.2d 342, 352-53, 144 P.3d 276 (2006) (PNSPA); *Kirby*, 124 Wn. App. at 469-72; *Dewey v. Tacoma Sch. Dist. No. 10*, 95 Wn. App. 18, 23-26, 974 P.2d 847 (1999); *Molloy*, 71 Wn. App. at 385-86. Hence, the alleged failure to pay teaching wages not properly before the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

Moreover, Petitioner failed to create a genuine issue of material fact below suggesting that the University failed to pay Dr. Singh "teaching wages." Petitioner failed to present any admissible evidence that Dr. Singh taught compensable courses at any time after July 16, 2015, the statute of limitations cut-off for wage claims.¹⁰ *Seattle Prof'l Eng'g Emps. Ass'n v. Boeing*

¹⁰ Actions against governmental entities such as the University require a prior tort claim notice, which tolls the statute of

Co., 139 Wn.2d 824, 837, 991 P.2d 1126 (2000); *Mitchell v. PEMCO Mut. Ins. Co.*, 134 Wn. App. 723, 737, 142 P.3d 623 (2006); RCW 4.16.080(3). Moreover, Petitioner also presented no admissible evidence that the University *ever* failed to compensate Dr. Singh for *any* teaching activities.

In short, the trial court and the Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioner's "teaching wage" claim. This claim was never properly before the trial court, or the Court of Appeals. In any event, there was no admissible evidence to support it.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Court should deny the Petition for Review. The fact-intensive decisions at-issue do not involve an issue of substantial public interest and are not in conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Further, the trial court properly granted summary judgment

limitations for 60 days. RCW 4.96.020(4). Hence, any conduct prior to July 16, 2015—three years and sixty days prior to the date Plaintiffs filed this action—is time barred.

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